FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON JULY 23, 2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
6/28/2024 3:48 PM

Case #: 1032871

No. 85094-6-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TRACFONE WIRELESS, INC., Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF RENTON, Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW BY TRACFONE WIRELESS, INC.

Grant Degginger, WSBA No. 15261 Scott Edwards, WSBA No. 26455 Taylor Washburn, WSBA No. 51524 Lane Powell PC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4200 Seattle, WA 98111-9402 Telephone: 206.223.7000 deggingerg@lanepowell.com edwardss@lanepowell.com washburnt@lanepowell.com *Attorneys for TracFone Wireless, Inc.*

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
	A.	TracFone sells prepaid wireless airtime	3		
	B.	Legal background.	6		
	C.	Procedural history.	8		
V.	ARC	GUMENT FOR REVIEW	10		
	A.	The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with the plain language of RCW 35A.82.060 and its own ruling in <i>City of Seattle v. T-Mobile West.</i>			
	В.	The Court of Appeals' decision improperly limits the Legislature's power to set cities' taxing authority	17		
	C.	The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with CR 56 by lowering the bar for summary judgment.	21		
		1. The Court of Appeals inverted this Court's ruling in <i>Rho Co., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue</i>	22		
		2. The Court of Appeals analyzed the record in the light most favorable to Renton, not TracFone	25		

	3.	The Court of Appeals' decision		
		significantly lowers the bar for		
		obtaining summary judgment28		
VI.	CONCLI	USION		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)
Cases
Assurance Wireless, USA v. Dep't of Rev., 25 Wn.App. 2d 237, 243 (2022)
Atherton Condominium Apartment-Owners Ass'n Bd. of Dir. v. Blume Dev. Co., 115 Wn.2d 506 (1990)
Citizens for Clean Air v. Spokane, 114 Wn.2d 20 (1990)
City of Seattle v. T-Mobile West Corp., 199 Wn.App. 79 (2017)
Cost Management Services Inc. v. City of Lakewood, 178 Wn.2d 635 (2013)
<i>In re All-State Construction Co.,</i> 70 Wn.2d 657 (1967)
Johnson v. Liquor & Cannabis Board, 197 Wn.2d 605 (2021)
Lakehaven Water and Sewer Dist. v. City of Federal Way, 195 Wn.2d 742 (2020)
Lowe's Home Centers, LLC v. Dep't of Rev., 195 Wn.2d 27 (2020)

Protective Admin. Services., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 24 Wn.App.2d 319 (2022)27
Qwest v. City of Bellevue, 161 Wn.2d 353 (2007),14, 17
Rho Co., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 113 Wn.2d 561 (1989)passim
TracFone v. City of Springfield, 557 S.W.3d 439 (Mo. Ct. App. 2018)29, 30, 31
State ex rel. Zempel v. Twitchell, 59 Wn.2d 419 (1962)
TracFone, Inc. v. City of Renton, Wn.App.2d, 547 P.3d 902passim
Vonage Am., Inc. v. City of Seattle, 152 Wn.App. 12 (2009)15
Statutes
RCW 35.21. 7 14
RCW 35A.82.060 passim
RCW 82.08.050
Renton Municipal Code, 5-11 RMC7, 19
Other Authorities
RAP 13.4(b)1

I. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals' decision affirming summary judgment for the City of Renton in this case would create a new and less rigorous summary judgment standard that deviates from CR 56 and rulings of this Court. The Court of Appeals' decision also contradicts the plan language of the statutes authorizing and limiting municipal telephone utility tax, and would constrain the Legislature's inherent power to establish cities' taxing authority by construing any limits on such granted authority as "tax exemptions." This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4) to reassert the summary judgment standard and the Legislature's authority over cities' taxing power.

The Court of Appeals' reading and application of the authorizing statute in this case, RCW 35A.82.060, is a matter of significant public importance because it affects the interpretation of *all* such authorizing statutes, and has particular significance for municipal telephone utility tax. The importance of this case is illustrated by the *amicus* brief filed with the Court of Appeals by the Washington State Association of Municipal Attorneys (WSAMA), which discussed the need for consistent application of laws governing municipalities.

This case is also of major public importance because the Court of Appeals' decision would create a new, lower bar for granting summary judgment, particularly in cases involving business records and contracts. The decision is in conflict with CR 56 and many opinions of this Court that describe the summary judgment standard.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION BELOW

Petitioner TracFone Wireless, Inc., seeks review of the Court of Appeals' published decision, *TracFone, Inc. v. City of Renton,* No. 85094-6-I, __ Wn.App.2d __, 547 P.3d

902 (April 29, 2024), reconsideration denied (May 29, 2024).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issues presented for review would be:

- 1. Are code cities authorized under RCW 35A.82.060 to impose municipal telephone utility tax on revenues *not* derived from sales of network telephone service?
- 2. When the Legislature imposes statutory limits on cities' discretionary taxing authority, are such limits "tax exemptions" that must be construed against taxpayers?
- 3. In ruling on a motion for summary judgment under CR 56, are courts permitted to disregard all evidence as to the internal "accounting characterizations," "procedures," "certifications," and "contractual labels" employed by the nonmoving party?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. TracFone sells prepaid wireless airtime.

TracFone sells prepaid wireless airtime. It buys this

airtime from network carriers, like AT&T and T-Mobile, then resells the airtime on a prepaid basis at retail, to consumers, and at wholesale, to retailers and distributors. Clerk's Papers ("CP") 1173 (First Decl. of C. Dillon), ¶ 3. This case concerns TracFone's wholesale sales, and in particular the scope of Renton's delegated authority to impose city telephone utility tax on such sales.

TracFone does not have physical retail locations; all of its retail sales are made over the Internet or via a toll-free "1-800" number. *Id.* at 1174, ¶¶ 6-7. When TracFone makes retail sales to consumers in Washington, it collects state sales tax and E-911 tax. CP 1455 (Second Decl. of C. Dillon), ¶ 19.

TracFone *does not*, however, collect sales and E-911 tax on its wholesale sales of prepaid airtime to retailers. *Id.* at 1456, ¶ 20. These wholesale sales are made at lower, bulk-rate (i.e., wholesale) prices, rather than higher retail

prices. CP 1174 (First Decl. of C. Dillon), ¶ 9. When the retailers later resell the wireless airtime to consumers, it is the retailers— $not\ TracFone$ —that collect revenue from the retail sales. CP 1455-56 (Second Decl. of C. Dillon), ¶¶ 19-20. It is also the retailers that collect state sales and E-911 tax on their own retail sales of the airtime to consumers. Id. at 1456, ¶¶ 21-22; CP 2394 (Fred Meyer receipt). Id.

TracFone collects resale certificates from wholesale purchasers, in which purchasers certify they are buying wireless airtime from TracFone "for resale in the regular course of business without intervening use." CP 1174 (First Decl. of C. Dillon) at ¶¶ 4-5; CP 1180 (sample resale certificate). In other words, these certificates confirm that

Renton tax manager Nate Malone collected a receipt when he purchased airtime at a Fred Meyer in Renton in September 2020. CP 1426-27 (N. Malone Dep. Tr.). This receipt reflects that Fred Meyer collected sales and E-911 tax from Malone in connection with this sale. CP 2394.

retailers purchase wireless airtime from TracFone for the purpose of reselling it to consumers. *Id.*

B. Legal background.

This case arises from Renton's efforts to impose city telephone utility tax on TracFone's revenues from its sales of wireless airtime to retailers and distributors—that is, its revenues from wholesale sales of airtime. Renton has argued it is authorized to impose telephone utility tax on such sales under RCW 35A.82.060, a state statute that authorizes and limits the imposition of telephone utility tax by cities. *See*, *e.g.*, CP 229-30 (Renton Mot. for Partial Summary Judgment).

RCW 35A.82.060 does not impose any tax, nor does it mandate that cities impose any tax. Rather, it authorizes cities, at their own discretion, to impose telephone utility

tax subject to specific limitations.² The tax in this case was actually imposed by a provision of the Renton Municipal Code, 5-11 RMC, which was enacted by the City pursuant to RCW 35A.82.060, and subject to its limitations. *See, e.g.,* CP 229 (Renton Mot. for Partial Summary Judgment).³

Two of these limitations are relevant to this Petition. First, the Legislature has *only* authorized cities to impose telephone utility tax on revenue "derived from intrastate toll telephone services." RCW 35A.82.060(1). Second, in addition to this first limitation, cities cannot tax "charges for network telephone service that is purchased for the purpose of resale." *Id.* This second limitation is referred to

The statute does not presume that all cities will elect to impose telephone utility tax, nor does it assume that all cities that do so will impose such taxes to the full extent of their delegated authority. *See* RCW 35A.82.060(1).

While the operative version of 5-11 RMC appears in the record, its language is irrelevant to this Petition.

as the statute's "resale proviso."

C. Procedural history.

In 2019, a contingent-fee auditor retained by Renton issued an assessment imposing telephone utility tax on TracFone's revenue from its wholesale sales to retailers during the period 2007 to 2013. CP 829. TracFone timely paid the assessment, then appealed to the Renton Hearing Examiner. CP 121-24 (Notice of Appeal).

Before the Renton Hearing Examiner, both parties introduced evidence bearing on Renton's authority under RCW 35A.82.060(1) to impose city telephone utility tax on TracFone's wholesale revenues. The Hearing Examiner granted partial summary judgment for Renton, CR 1517-24,4 and subsequently modified its ruling with no impact

Renton's motion was for *partial* summary judgment because it only addressed threshold questions regarding Renton's legal authority to impose telephone utility tax; it set aside other issues to be adjudicated later. CR 230.

on the outcome, CR 1625-35.

TracFone appealed the Hearing Examiner's decision to King County Superior Court, which affirmed the ruling on somewhat different grounds, and then to the Court of Appeals, which likewise affirmed. *TracFone*, 547 P.3d 902. Relevant to this Petition, the Court of Appeals concluded that TracFone's wholesale sales to retailers are *not* sales of network telephone services for the purpose of resale. *Id.* at 910-14. Based on this conclusion, the Court of Appeals found that the resale proviso, which it characterized as a "tax exemption," does not prohibit Renton from imposing utility tax on TracFone's wholesale revenues. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals recognized that the question of whether TracFone sells network telephone services to retailers for the purpose of resale is partly an issue of fact. But it disregarded all of TracFone's evidence bearing on this question in affirming summary judgment for Renton.

Id. at 912-14.

Relying exclusively on evidence cited by Renton, the Court of Appeals held TracFone never sells "network telephone service" to retailers, because these retailers do not acquire "access to a telephone network." *Id.* at 911. Thus, when retailers sell prepaid airtime to consumers, they are not "reselling" airtime purchased from TracFone, because it is impossible to "resell" service that you never acquired. *Id.* at 911-14. The Court of Appeals did not say what TracFone *is* selling retailers if not network telephone service; the decision is conspicuously silent on this point. *Id.* at 911-14.

V. ARGUMENT FOR REVIEW

The Legislature has only authorized cities to impose telephone utility tax on revenue "derived from intrastate

⁵ Clearly TracFone is selling the retailers *something*. If it were not, it would have no wholesale revenue to tax.

toll telephone services," and has also provided that cities cannot tax "charges for network telephone service that is purchased for the purpose of resale." RCW 35A.82.060(1).

The Court of Appeals disregarded both of these two statutory limitations in holding that Renton can impose telephone utility tax on TracFone's wholesale revenue. First, as noted above, the Court of Appeals held TracFone does not sell network telephone service or airtime to retailers at wholesale. TracFone, 547 P.3d at 911-14. If this is true, however, TracFone's wholesale revenues are not "derived from intrastate toll telephone services," and Renton cannot tax these revenues under RCW 35A.82.060(1). The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with the plain text of the statute, as well as its own prior rulings interpreting an identical authorizing statute.

As for the second limitation, the resale proviso, the Court of Appeals' analysis contravenes clear instructions

from this Court regarding interpretation of tax statutes. In particular, the Court of Appeals wrongly construed the resale proviso as a tax exemption. This cannot be the case because RCW 35A.82.060 is merely an *authorizing* statute; it does not impose taxes and cannot create exemptions. The Court of Appeals' decision to construe this provision against TracFone conflicts with rulings of this Court, and introduces confusion regarding the proper interpretation of RCW 35A.82.060 and similar authorizing statues.

Finally, the Court of Appeals' ruling conflicts with the summary judgment standard stated in CR 56(c) and numerous rulings of this Court. On summary judgment, the Court of Appeals disregarded evidence that creates a genuine issue of material fact as to the application of the resale proviso. It justified its decision to dismiss this evidence with reference to this Court's ruling in *Rho Co., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 113 Wn.2d 561 (1989), but inverted

the holding of that case. If it stands, the Court of Appeals' decision would lower the bar for summary judgment in a wide range of cases involving business records.

Because the Court of Appeals' ruling disregards the text of RCW 35A.82.060, conflicts with prior decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals, and materially alters and distorts the summary judgement standard, TracFone respectfully asks this Court to accept review.

A. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with the plain language of RCW 35A.82.060 and its own ruling in City of Seattle v. T-Mobile West.

In affirming the Renton Hearing Examiner's ruling that TracFone's wholesale revenue is subject to Renton municipal utility tax, the Court of Appeals determined that TracFone's sales to retailers are not sales of "network telephone services" or airtime as a matter of law. *TracFone*, 547 P.3d at 911. This was the basis for the Court of Appeals' conclusion that TracFone's wholesale sales to

retailers are not sales of network telephone service made for the purpose of resale to consumers. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals' conclusion that TracFone is not selling "network telephone services" at wholesale, but that revenues from these sales are subject to Renton utility tax, conflicts with its own decision in City of Seattle v. T-Mobile West Corp., 199 Wn.App. 79 (2017). In T-Mobile, the Court of Appeals interpreted and applied RCW 35.21.714, which is identical to RCW 35A.82.060 except the former applies to charter cities, while the latter applies to code cities. See Qwest v. City of Bellevue, 161 Wn.2d 353, 363 n. 12 (2007) (these statutes also "share identical legislative history"), abrogated on other grounds by Cost Management Services Inc. v. City of Lakewood, 178 Wn.2d 635 (2013). Consistent with these authorizing statutes, the court held in T-Mobile that cities may only impose telephone utility tax on revenues "derived from intrastate toll telephone

services." 199 Wn.App. at 83 (quoting RCW 35.21.714(1)); accord RCW 35A.82.060(1).

The specific issue in *T-Mobile* was whether the City of Seattle was authorized to impose municipal telephone utility tax on T-Mobile's revenue from Seattle customers who incur roaming charges. T-Mobile, 199 Wn.App. at 81. The court recognized that Seattle's authority to tax these revenues is constrained by the authorizing statute, RCW 35.21.714(1). Specifically, "when a city taxes the telephone business, it is limited to taxing revenue 'derived from intrastate toll telephone services." Id. at 83-4 (quoting RCW 35.21.714(1)). Intrastate toll telephone services are the subset of network telephone services "that originate and terminate within the same state." *Id.* at 83.6

⁶ T-Mobile extended the holding of Vonage Am., Inc. v. City of Seattle, 152 Wn.App. 12 (2009), in which the Court of Appeals applied the same language in RCW 35.21.714, (...continued)

Given this statutory limitation on Seattle's taxing authority, the Court of Appeals correctly held in *T-Mobile* that the city had no authority to impose telephone utility tax on T-Mobile's revenues from roaming charges, which are only assessed as to *international* services. 199 Wn.App. at 83. T-Mobile's revenues from these roaming charges were not "derived from intrastate toll telephone services," because roaming charges are never imposed on intrastate services. *Id.* (citing RCW 35.21.714(1)).

The authorizing statute that applies to Renton, RCW 35A.82.060, contains precisely the same limitation: code cities can only impose municipal telephone utility tax on revenues "derived from intrastate toll telephone services." RCW 35A.82.060(1). Because the language and

(...continued)

and held Seattle was only authorized to tax the "intrastate component" of charges for network telephone service.

the legislative history of RCW 35A.82.060 are identical to those of RCW 35.21.714, the reasoning in *T-Mobile* applies with equal force here. *See*, *e.g.*, *Qwest*, 161 Wn.2d at 363.

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case conflicts with the plain language of RCW 35A.82.060(1), and its own ruling in *T-Mobile*, because it holds that TracFone *does not* sell network telephone service to retailers, but that Renton is nonetheless entitled to impose telephone utility tax on TracFone's revenues from those sales. This Court should grant review to address these contradictions and clarify the scope of cities' power to impose telephone utility tax under both authorizing statutes.

B. The Court of Appeals' decision improperly limits the Legislature's power to set cities' taxing authority.

In addition to stipulating that cities can only impose telephone utility tax on revenues "derived from intrastate toll telephone services," RCW 35A.82.060(1) also contains

another important limitation on cities' taxing authority. This is the resale proviso, which bars cities from imposing telephone utility tax on "charges for network telephone service that is purchased for the purpose of resale." *Id.*

The Court of Appeals construed the resale proviso in the authorizing statute as a "tax exemption." *TracFone*, 574 P.3d at 905. This significant because, as the Court of Appeals explained, tax exemptions are interpreted very differently than statutes imposing taxation. "While tax statutes generally are interpreted in favor of the taxpayer, exemption statutes are construed strictly against the taxpayer, and the taxpayer has the burden of establishing any exemption." *Id.* (emph. added) (quoting *Port of Seattle v. Dep't of Revenue*, 101 Wn.App. 106, 112 (2000)); see also In re All-State Construction Co., 70 Wn.2d 657, 665 (1967).

Because the Court of Appeals identified the resale proviso as an "exemption," it construed the resale proviso

against TracFone. TracFone, 574 P.3d at 911, 914. This is a serious error. The resale proviso is not an "exemption," because RCW 35A.82.060 is an authorizing statute. It does not impose taxes, and it cannot create exemptions. Rather, it grants cities the power, at their own discretion, to impose telephone utility tax, while also limiting this grant. Cities can, of course, establish their own exemptions from city utility taxes, but an authorizing statute cannot create an exemption because it does not impose taxes. See In re All-State Construction Co., 70 Wn.2d at 665 ("an exemption in a statute imposing a tax must be strictly construed in favor of the application of the tax and against the person claiming the exemption" (emph. added)). The tax at issue here was imposed by the Renton Municipal Code, 5-11 RMC; it was not imposed by the Legislature.

The Court of Appeals' analysis of the resale proviso as a "tax exemption" also conflicts with its own ruling in

the *T-Mobile* case, summarized above. 199 Wn.App. 79. In that case, the court held an identical authorizing statute only permitted Seattle to tax revenue derived from sales of "intrastate toll telephone services." *Id.* at 81. At no point in *T-Mobile* did the court describe this limitation as an "exemption" to be construed against T-Mobile. *Id.* at 81-86. Rather, it described the "intrastate" limitation as a "proviso" that "explains how [an earlier] clause applies in particular circumstances." *Id.* at 83-84.

"no inherent power to levy taxes." State ex rel. Tacoma School Dist. No. 10 v. Kelly, 176 Wn. 689, 690 (1934); see also Lakehaven Water and Sewer Dist. v. City of Federal Way, 195 Wn.2d 742, 752 (2020). While the Legislature can impose taxes and establish exemptions, cities can only tax within their delegated authority. By analyzing the resale proviso as an "exemption," the Court of Appeals has limited the

Legislature's ability to determine cities' taxing authority by requiring that any statutory limits on such delegated authority be "strictly construed" in favor of taxation.

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