FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/21/2024 2:08 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1032871 Court of Appeals, Division I No. 85094-6 King Co. Superior Court Cause No. 21-2-08552-7

TRACFONE WIRELESS, INC.,

Plaintiffs-Petitioners,

v.

CITY OF RENTON,

Defendant-Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Kari L. Sand, WSBA #27355 Attorney for Defendant-Respondent City of Renton OGDEN MURPHY WALLACE 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 5600 Seattle, WA 98104-7045 Tel: (206) 447-7000 Fax: (206) 447-0215

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

TracFone's belief that the Court of Appeals misapplied RCW 35A.82.060 to its "wholesale" business is not a proper basis for review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b). In an apparent attempt to manufacture a conflict under RAP 13.4(b)(1), TracFone now asserts for the first time that the Court of Appeals' decision on this point conflicts with *City of Seattle v. T-Mobile West Corp.*, 199 Wn. App. 79 (2017).

In *T-Mobile*, the Court of Appeals interpreted RCW 35.21.714, which is identical to RCW 35A.82.060 except the former applies to charter cities, while the latter applies to code cities. See Qwest Corp. v. City of Bellevue, 161 Wn.2d 353 363, 166 P.3d 667 (2007), abrogated on other grounds by Cost Mgmt Servs. v. City of Lakewood, 178 Wn.2d 635, 310 P.3d 804 (2013). The issue addressed by the Court of Appeals in T-Mobile was whether the City of Seattle had authority to impose telephone utility tax on T-Mobile's revenue generated from roaming charges, which are only assessed on international services. T-Mobile, 199 Wn. App. at 83. The T-Mobile court found that roaming charges were not taxable because RCW 35.21.714 only authorizes taxes on revenue "derived from *intrastate* toll telephone services," and the roaming revenues were derived from international services. TracFone is not asserting that Renton is improperly assessing telephone utility tax on revenues generated from outside Renton, and the T-*Mobile* holding bears no relevance to the present case.

TracFone attempts to extend *T-Mobile* to this case by arguing that the Court of Appeals—by finding that TracFone does not sell network telephone service to retailers for the purpose of resale-effectively held that these sales do not constitute "intrastate toll telephone services," and are therefore not taxable under Renton's telephone utility tax. Petition at 14-15. Apart from being a plain misconception of the Court of Appeals' holding, this argument does not implicate T-Mobile. The T-Mobile decision clarifies whether RCW 35.21.714 authorizes cities to tax both interstate and intrastate telephone services. Id. The decision contains no discussion of the definition of "telephone services," nor does it address the taxation of revenues from retailers for the provision of access to network telephone service to Renton customers.

TracFone's reasoning here is representative of its consistent practice of attempting to reduce taxes by mischaracterizing its business model to obfuscate the taxable incident under RCW 35A.82.060. Under Renton's telephone

utility tax, which is authorized by RCW 35A.82.060, the taxable incident that triggers the tax is the privilege of conducting a "telephone business" within city limits. *See* RMC 5-11-1(A)(1). RCW 82.16.010 defines "[t]elephone business" as "the business of providing network telephone service." RCW 82.16.010(7)(b)(iii). In turn, the statute defines "network telephone service" in part as "the providing by any person of access to a telephone network...." RCW 82.16.010(7)(b)(ii). In other words, a "telephone business" is one that provides "access" to a telephone network. The critical question is therefore whether the business, or which business, provides access to a telephone network.

The Court of Appeals unambiguously held that TracFone's sales made directly to consumers, as well as its sales made indirectly through retailers, constitute "telephone business" revenues and are therefore taxable. *TracFone*, 547 P.3d at 908-11. The court's determination that TracFone does not sell network telephone service to retailers was made in the

context of the resale proviso and was based on its finding that "TracFone, not the retailers, retains control over the end user's access to a telephone network." *Id.* at 911. TracFone's attempt to invert this holding is unsuccessful. Regardless of how TracFone sells its airtime, it is TracFone that provides its customers with network telephone service, and thus, it is TracFone who is subject to telephone utility tax.

This Court has already rejected a nearly identical attempt by TracFone to avoid taxes. In *TracFone Wireless, Inc. v. Washington Dep't of Revenue*, TracFone alleged that it was not subject to taxation from the State of Washington because it believed its business model, selling to subscribers (customers) prepaid wireless telephone services through third party retailers, was not contemplated by the controlling statutes. 170 Wn.2d 273, 242 P.3d 810 (2010) . Specifically, TracFone made the familiar argument that the retailers through which it sold TracFone telephone service were subject to tax, not TracFone. *Id.* at 296. The Washington Supreme Court rejected TracFone's position and found that TracFone was liable for taxation regardless of how it decided to market and charge for its service. While the tax at issue in *TracFone Wireless*—the state enhanced 911 excise tax (E-911)—is different than the telephone utility tax at issue here, TracFone's arguments mirrored those offered here.

This Court stated in *TracFone Wireless*: "TracFone itself provides the use of radio access lines to the subscribers of TracFone's wireless service ... TracFone, not the retail store, provides the service." *TracFone Wireless*, 170 Wn.2d at 296, n.15. It was additionally noted that: "TracFone is responsible for activation and assignment of radio access lines to the subscribers," and "[i]f there are problems requiring service, TracFone, not the retail store, provides the service." *Id.* TracFone has not meaningfully changed its business model since 2010. As this Court acknowledged in *TracFone Wireless*, TracFone's use of retailers to reach end users has no effect on the fact that TracFone executes and controls the taxable incident: the provision of access to a telephone network.

C. <u>The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Limit the</u> Legislature's Power to Set Taxing Authority.

TracFone argues that the Court of Appeals "improperly limits the Legislature's power to set cities' taxing authority" by incorrectly construing the resale proviso as a "tax exemption." Petition at 17. TracFone argues that the resale proviso cannot be an exemption because RCW 35A.82.060 is an authorizing statute, which TracFone believes "cannot create an exemption because it does not impose taxes." Petition at 19. Again, TracFone has failed to identify any valid basis for review of this issue under RAP 13.4(b).

Moreover, the one case TracFone cites on this point does not support its position. *See In re All-State Construction Co.*, 70 Wn.2d 657, 425 P.2d 657 (1967). *All-State* involves an "exemption in a statute imposing a tax," but it contains no discussion of authorizing statutes and does not support the notion that such statutes cannot create exemptions. *See All-* *State*, 70 Wn.2d at 665. Crucially, TracFone ignores the fact that this Court has referred to the very provisos in RCW 35A.82.060 at issue in this case as "taxation exemption[s]." *Qwest Corp.*, 161 Wn.2d at 672-75 ("In 1986 the statute was amended to include the exemption regarding telecommunications companies.").

TracFone's assertion that tax exemptions can only be derived from statutes in which the legislature directly "impose[s] taxes and establish[es] exemptions" is also contrary to this Court's precedent. In *Columbia Irr. Dist. v. Benton County*, this Court analyzed whether an irrigation district qualified for the constitutional tax "exemption" that prohibits property taxes from being assessed against municipal corporations. 149 Wash. 234, 240, 270 P. 813, 816 (1928) ("[T]axation is the rule and exemption is the exception, and where there is an exception the intention to make one should be expressed in unambiguous terms."). The Washington State Constitution does not directly impose property taxes on

individuals; it authorizes the legislature to do so. Nonetheless, it contains tax exemptions that this Court construes strictly against the taxpayer. *Id.* In other words, the authorizing authority creates the exemption, just as here. TracFone has presented no authority to support its narrow framing of tax exemptions.

TracFone's argument fails even if this Court were to accept TracFone's theory that the resale proviso is not properly construed as a tax exemption, because there is only one reasonable interpretation of RCW 35A.82.060. *See Estate of Hemphill v. Dep't of Revenue*, 153 Wn.2d 544, 552, 105 P.3d 391 (2005) (holding that statutes must be construed in favor of taxpayers where there are "ambiguities in taxing statutes"). RCW 35A.82.060(1) provides that cities "shall not impose the fee or tax on ... charges for *network telephone service* that is *purchased for the purpose of resale*[.]" RCW 35A.82.060(1) (emphasis added). Again, RCW 82.16.010 defines "network telephone service" in part as "the providing by any person of

access to a telephone network...." RCW 82.16.010(7)(b)(ii) (emphasis added). Thus, it is the "access" to a network that must be "purchased" for "resale." This statutory language is abundantly clear. As is fully discussed below, Renton presented uncontroverted evidence that TracFone controls access to the network, even when it makes sales through retailers. Regardless of whether the resale proviso is a tax exemption or not (it is), reasonable minds cannot disagree as to its meaning or that it does not apply to TracFone's revenues from its sales made through retailers.

D. <u>The Court of Appeals Properly Applied the Summary</u> Judgment Standard.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that there is no genuine issue of material fact as to whether TracFone's indirect sales through retailers are exempt from taxation under the resale proviso in RCW 35A.82.060. In making this determination, the Court of Appeals first found that Renton "met its initial burden to show that there is no genuine issue of material fact in dispute that a retailer does not 'acquire' and 'sell' 'access to a telephone network."" TracFone, 547 P.3d at 911. Renton presented substantial evidence to meet its burden, including TracFone's own terms and conditions of service with its customers, the contracts between TracFone and network carriers, the contracts between TracFone and retailers, and TracFone marketing brochures. CP 3902-4. The Court of Appeals found that this evidence established the following key facts, among others: (1) customers who purchase TracFone services through a retailer are reliant on TracFone alone to activate their service; (2) TracFone alone retains the right to discontinue service in its sole discretion; (3) retailers' role is limited to housing and selling TracFone "airtime codes;" and (4) TracFone's contracts with telephone networks like T-Mobile require that the end user agreement is between TracFone and the user, and do not allow for additional resale. *TracFone*, 547 P.3d at 911. The appellate court then found that TracFone failed to meet its burden to present evidence that

raises a genuine issue regarding any of the material facts listed above. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals explained how TracFone failed to meet its burden:

None of Dillon's testimony or TracFone's other evidence address the crux of the resale issue, namely, whether a retailer "purchased" and "resold" access to telephone networks, as required under former RMC 5-11-1 and RCW 35A.82.060(1).

Id.

To meet its burden at summary judgment, TracFone was required to present evidence that a genuine issue of material fact exists where reasonable minds could differ on the "facts controlling the outcome of the litigation." *Ranger Ins. Co. v. Pierce County*, 164 Wn.2d 545, 552, 192 P.3d 886 (2008). The Court of Appeals properly found that the evidence presented by TracFone in support of its assertion that the resale proviso applies to its "wholesale" sales was immaterial. *See Jacobsen v. State*, 89 Wn.2d 104, 108, 569 P.2d 1152 (1977) ("A 'material fact' is one upon which the outcome of the litigation

depends."). The Court of Appeals accepted TracFone's evidence to be true but determined that it simply bore no relevance to the inquiry controlling the outcome of the litigation: whether retailers or TracFone purchased and resold access to telephone networks. This is the proper analysis at summary judgment. TracFone's disagreement with the Court of Appeals' ruling does not create a genuine issue of material fact, nor does it create an appealable issue under RAP 13.4(b).

> 1. <u>The Court of Appeals' Decision Is Consistent with</u> <u>*Rho Co., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue.*</u>

TracFone argues that the Court of Appeals wrongly discredited the evidence presented in support of its argument that TracFone sells airtime to retailers for the purpose of resale. *See TracFone*, 547 P.3d at 912-13. TracFone relied on the declaration of Chesley Dillon, TracFone's Vice President of Corporate Taxation, which included the following assertions: (1) "revenue from its wholesale sales [are internally accounted for] as *airtime* revenue;" and (2) TracFone receives "certificates" from retailers that certify that retailers buy airtime

"for resale" for purposes of retail sales tax, not the telephone utility tax *Id.* at 912. The Court of Appeals found that this evidence was "irrelevant" to the key question of whether the retailers purchased and resold network telephone service. *Id.* at 913. In making this determination, the appellate court cited *Rho Co., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue* for the concept that the court must "look beyond the contractual labels placed on the parties' relationships." *Id.* (citing *Rho Co., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 113 Wn.2d 561, 573, 782 P.2d 986 (1989)).

TracFone argues that by citing *Rho*, the Court of Appeals has created a "new, lower standard for summary judgment, under which the nonmoving party cannot cite to its 'internal accounting characterizations, procedures or certifications' to show a material issue of fact." Petition at 25. This is false for two key reasons. First, TracFone misstates the holding of *Rho*. TracFone asserts that *Rho's* holding is limited to the notion that courts cannot rely "exclusively" on contractual labels in determining the relationship of two parties. *Id.* at 23. While this is an accurate characterization of part of the holding, it omits important nuance. *Rho* held that courts must look to the "manifest conduct of parties" to determine whether they have an agency relationship, as the intent of the parties is not determinative of their legal relationship. *Rho*, 113 Wn.2d at 571. In other words, courts must look beyond contractual labels and evaluate whether the parties' conduct meets the requirements of the legal relationship. The Court of Appeals did just that.

Second, TracFone misrepresents the extent to which the Court of Appeals relied on *Rho*. According to TracFone, the court cited *Rho* to support its conclusion that "all of TracFone's evidence is irrelevant" and that the court was prohibited from considering it. Petition at 24. Nowhere did the Court of Appeals state that *Rho* prohibited it from considering TracFone's contractual labels, much less "all" of its evidence. It merely cited to *Rho* for its finding that the conduct of the parties, not contractual labels, ultimately determines their relationship. In

light of the unrefuted evidence presented by Renton that the retailers never obtain, own, or sell network telephone access, the Court of Appeals correctly found that TracFone's internal accounting labels do not meaningfully address the "crux of the resale issue, namely, whether a retailer 'purchased' and 'resold' access to telephone networks." *TracFone*, 547 P.3d at 913. The Court of Appeals did not rely on *Rho* to establish a new summary judgment standard.

2. <u>The Court of Appeals Properly Analyzed the</u> Record in the Light Most Favorable to TracFone.

TracFone argues that the Court of Appeals also improperly analyzed the evidence in the light most favorable to Renton. However, the Court of Appeals clearly stated that it viewed "all facts and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Id.* at 906. In other words, TracFone seeks review not because the Court of Appeals applied the wrong summary judgment standard, but because it disagrees with the court's application of the correct standard. Again, this is not a valid basis for review under RAP 13.4(b). TracFone has failed to articulate any conflict with appellate or supreme court case law, constitutional issues, or issues of broad public importance. While review should be denied on this basis alone, Renton further responds to the additional issues raised by TracFone.

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